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To: Commission 

From: Jonathan Wayne, Executive Director 

Date: October 23, 2019 

Re: Request to Investigate Contributions made by the Gideon Leadership PAC 

________________________________________________________________________ 

 

On August 22, 2019, the Maine Commission on Governmental Ethics and Election 

Practices (“Commission”) received the attached request for investigation from Edward 

Youngblood concerning six contributions made by the Gideon Leadership political action 

committee (“PAC”) in 2015-2016.  (Youngblood request letter, at ETH-17 – ETH-110)  

The committee is the leadership PAC of State Rep. Sara Gideon, currently the Speaker of 

the Maine House of Representatives.  Two of the contributions were to Maine-based 

PACs and the other four contributions were to a federal candidate and political 

committee. 

 

Public filings suggest that Rep. Gideon made the six contributions with her own money 

and was later reimbursed by the Gideon Leadership PAC.  When the recipient 

committees filed campaign finance reports with the Commission and the Federal Election 

Commission (“FEC”), they reported receiving the contributions from Sara Gideon, rather 

than from the Gideon Leadership PAC.  Mr. Youngblood asserts that this arrangement 

violated Maine campaign finance law because the Gideon Leadership PAC made 

contributions “in the name of another, Sara Gideon.”  (ETH-20)  In addition, he alleges 

that the contributions violated federal campaign finance law.  He has filed a separate 

complaint with the FEC, which will consider the federal compliance issues in due course. 

 

Sara Gideon responds that when she made the contributions (more than three years ago), 

she believed in good faith that her payments and the PAC’s reimbursements were 

permissible.  (Gideon response, at ETH-119)  At that time, she was in her second term as 
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a State Representative and first term as the assistant leader of her caucus.  She explains 

that upon learning of potential federal compliance issues, she took prompt remedial 

action by personally paying the amount of the PAC’s reimbursements to the U.S. 

Treasury.  (ETH-118) 

 

Based on the information preliminarily available, it is difficult for the Commission staff 

to see how an investigation would lead to a determination that the Gideon Leadership 

PAC committed the legal violation of “making contributions in the name of another.”  

We believe this violation is intended to apply to situations where it is demonstrated that a 

contributor intends to remain concealed by contributing through an intermediary or 

conduit.  This case is different because the Gideon Leadership PAC clearly intended to 

report the contributions in its own name in campaign finance reports filed with this 

Commission.  For all six contributions, the Gideon Leadership PAC publicly reported 

that it had reimbursed Sara Gideon for the contributions.  Accordingly, the staff 

recommends against conducting any campaign finance or legislative ethics investigation 

as requested, but we will gladly undertake any direction the Commission determines to be 

appropriate. 

 

We acknowledge, however, that some of the reporting by the Maine PACs in this matter 

could have painted a clearer picture of the payments and reimbursements.  We presume 

that Sara Gideon did not inform the two recipient Maine-based PACs (the House 

Democratic Campaign Committee and the Golden Leadership Fund) that the funds she 

was donating originated with her leadership PAC, and not from her personal funds.  If 

she had made this communication, these two PACs hopefully would have reported the 

Gideon Leadership PAC as the contributor, rather than Sara Gideon.  This lack of 

communication was not illegal, but it may have contributed to unclear reporting.  Also, 

when the Gideon Leadership PAC reported reimbursing Sara Gideon, it could have more 

clearly identified the federal candidate and committee that ultimately received three of 

the six contributions.  While their financial reporting could have been clearer, we believe 

the Maine PACs substantially complied with current Maine law and published 

Commission guidance and should not be viewed as “contributing in the name of another.” 
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Relevant Law 

 

Standard for opening a requested investigation 

The Election Law authorizes the Commission to receive requests for investigation and to 

conduct an investigation “if the reasons stated for the request show sufficient grounds for 

believing that a violation may have occurred.” 

A person may apply in writing to the commission requesting an 

investigation as described in subsection 1. The commission shall review 

the application and shall make the investigation if the reasons stated for 

the request show sufficient grounds for believing that a violation may have 

occurred. 

(21-A M.R.S. § 1003(2)) (ETH-1) 

 

Commission jurisdiction – state candidate elections only 

The Commission does not have jurisdiction over contributions to federal candidates and 

political committees: 

This subchapter applies to candidates for all state and county offices and 

to campaigns for their nomination and election. Candidates for municipal 

office as described in Title 30-A, section 2502, subsection 1 are also 

governed by this subchapter. The commission does not have jurisdiction 

over financial activities to influence the nomination or election of 

candidates for federal office. 

(21-A M.R.S. § 1011) (ETH-12)  

 

Financial reporting 

Under Maine campaign finance law, candidates for state office, political action 

committees, and party committees are required to report all contributions they have 

received above certain monetary thresholds, including the name and address of the 

contributor and the date and amount of the contribution.  (21-A M.R.S. §§ 1017(5), 

1017-A(1) & 1060(6))  Accurate reporting of contributors assists members of the public 

to understand the actual sources of contributions received by candidates and committees.  
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Accurate contributor reporting is also important to verify compliance with contribution 

limits and other legal requirements. 

 

Making a contribution in the name of another 

Maine campaign finance law makes it a Class E crime to knowingly make a contribution 

in the name of another person or to allow one’s name to be used for this purpose: 

The violation of any of the following subsections is a Class E crime. … 

3. Contributions in another's name.  A person may not knowingly: 

A. Make a contribution in the name of another person; 

B.  Permit the person's name to be used to accomplish a contribution in 

violation of paragraph A; or 

C.  Accept a contribution made by one person in the name of another 

person. … 

(21-A M.R.S. § 1004(3)) (ETH-10)  The conduct may also result in civil penalties: 

A person that makes a contribution in the name of another person, or that 

knowingly accepts a contribution made by one person in the name of another 

person, may be assessed a penalty not to exceed $5,000.   

(21-A M.R.S. § 1004-A(3)) (ETH-11) 

 

Giving a contribution through an intermediary or conduit 

If a person (either an individual or association) gives money to an intermediary or conduit 

for the purpose of contributing it to a candidate, the intermediary or conduit is required 

by statute to disclose the original source of the contribution to the candidate so that the 

candidate may report the original source as the contributor.  (21-A M.R.S. § 1015(4))  

(ETH-12)  This provision was written in the law governing contributions to candidates to 

avoid circumvention of contribution limits.  No similar provision exists in the law 

governing contributions to PACs and ballot question committees.   

 

Legislative ethics 

In 1 M.R.S. §§ 1001-1051, the Maine Legislature established a legislative ethics law, 

which, among other things, defines certain acts of misconduct as a “violation of 
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legislative ethics.” The term “violations of legislative ethics” is defined 1 M.R.S. § 

1012(10) to mean “a violation of the prohibitions in section 1014 or 1015.”  (ETH-1)  

These violations include: 

 conflicts of interest (1 M.R.S. § 1014(1)) 

 unduly influencing a Maine state agency or authority (1 M.R.S. § 1014(2-A)) 

 abuse of office or position (1 M.R.S. § 1014(3)) 

 contracting with a state governmental agency without competitive bidding (1 

M.R.S. § 1014(4)) 

 receiving campaign contributions from lobbyists or their clients during a 

legislative session (1 M.R.S. § 1015(3)) 

(ETH-5 – ETH-8).  

 

In 1 M.R.S. § 1013, the Maine Legislature set out strict procedures by which the 

Commission may receive complaints of violations of legislative ethics.  A person may 

file a complaint against a Legislator alleging a violation of legislative ethics only as 

described in sections 1014 and 1015.  (1 M.R.S. § 1013(2)(B-1)) (ETH-1)  The 

Commission may only consider activity by a Legislator that occurred or was ongoing 

within two years of the filing of the complaint.  (1 M.R.S. § 1013(2)(B-1)(2)) (ETH-2)   

The complainant must keep the complaint confidential unless the Commission decides to 

pursue the complaint.  (1 M.R.S. § 1013(2)(B-1)) (ETH-2, ETH-4) 

 
Reported Contributions 

 

Contributions Reported by the Recipient Committees 

Mr. Youngblood alleges that the Gideon Leadership PAC made six contributions in the 

name of Sara Gideon.  The details of the transactions, as reported by the recipient 

committees in campaign finance reports, are shown on the table on the next page.  (The 

Commission staff has not verified the payment dates and amounts.)  To see the actual 

pages from the relevant campaign finance reports, please refer to exhibits B-G of Mr. 

Youngblood’s request.  (The page numbers are noted in the table.)  The recipient 
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committees apparently received the payments directly from Sara Gideon, and then 

reported her as the contributor. 

 

Contributions as Reported by Recipient Committees 

Recipient Committee 
Reported 

Date 
Reported 
Amount 

Reported 
Contributor 

Agency 
Receiving 
Campaign 

Finance 
Report 

Cain for Congress  
(ETH-29 – ETH-31) 9/30/15 $1,000.00 Sara I Gideon FEC 

Cain for Congress  
(ETH-33 – ETH-35) 6/13/16 $250.00 Sara I Gideon FEC 

House Democratic Campaign 
Committee  
(ETH-37 – ETH-47) 

8/3/16 $250.00 Sara Gideon 
Maine Ethics 
Commission 

Golden Leadership Fund 
(ETH-49 – ETH-56) 6/25/16 $250.00 Sara Gideon 

Maine Ethics 
Commission 

Maine Democratic State Committee 
(Federal account)  
(ETH-58 – ETH-60) 

7/11/16 $1,000.00 Sara I. Gideon FEC 

Maine Democratic State Committee 
(Federal account)  
(ETH-62 – ETH-64) 

10/3/16 $500.00 Sara I. Gideon FEC 

 
 
To clarify the nature of these four recipient committees: 

 In 2015-2016, Emily Cain was engaged in her second campaign for U.S. 

Representative for the second congressional district in Maine.  Contributions to 

her campaign were subject to federal campaign finance laws.  She filed campaign 

finance reports with the FEC. 

 The House Democratic Campaign Committee is a Maine-based PAC established 

to promote Democratic nominees to the Maine House of Representatives.  It files 

campaign finance reports with the Commission. 

 The Golden Leadership Fund was a leadership PAC established by then-State 

Representative Jared Golden.  The PAC filed campaign finance reports with the 



 
 

7 
 

Commission for about two years until Rep. Golden terminated the PAC in 

November 2017. 

 The federal account of the Maine Democratic State committee is a separate bank 

account established by the Maine Democratic Party to promote candidates in 

federal elections and engage in other permissible activities.  Below in this memo, 

I refer to this account as the “MDP federal account.”  Contributions to this 

account must comply with federal law.  The MDP federal account files campaign 

finance reports with the FEC. 

 

Reimbursements Reported by Gideon Leadership PAC 

The Gideon Leadership PAC is a Maine PAC which registered with the Commission in 

May 2014.  (ETH-24 – ETH-27)  Sara Gideon was the principal officer of the PAC, until 

she dissolved it in June 2019.  In campaign finance reports filed with the Commission, 

the Gideon Leadership PAC disclosed the following payments, and described the purpose 

of the payments as a reimbursement to Sara Gideon for contributions: 

 

Reported Payee 
Reported 

Date 
Reported 
Amount 

Reported 
Explanation of 

Purpose 

Sara Gideon  
(ETH-31) 

10/28/15 $1,000.00
Reimbursement for 
federal contribution 

Emily Cain for 
Congress  
(ETH-35) 

6/1/16 $250.00
Contribution - 
Reimbursement to 
Sara Gideon 

House Democratic 
Campaign Committee 
(ETH-38) 

6/1/16 $250.00
Contribution - 
Reimbursement to 
Sara Gideon 

Golden Leadership 
Fund 
(ETH-50) 

6/27/16 $250.00
Contribution - 
Reimbursement to 
Sara Gideon 

Sara Gideon 
(ETH-60) 

7/25/16 $1,000.00
Reimbursement for 
MDP contribution 

Sara Gideon 
(ETH-64) 

10/12/16 $500.00
Reimbursement for 
contribution 
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Violations Alleged by Mr. Youngblood 

 

Alleged violation of state election law.  Mr. Youngblood asserts that the Gideon 

Leadership PAC violated 21-A M.R.S. § 1004(3)(A) by contributing in the name of 

another, Sara Gideon.  The allegation is summed up in the first full paragraph on the 

fourth page of his letter: 

As such, there can be no question that the PAC and not Sara Gideon was 

the true contributor to committees in question and that Gideon Leadership 

PAC made a contribution in the name of another, Sara Gideon, in direct 

violation of the giving in another’s name prohibition at Me. Rev. Stat. tit. 

21-A, § 1004(3)(A).   

(ETH-20) 

 

Mr. Youngblood also claims Sara Gideon violated 21-A M.R.S. § 1004(3)(B) by 

allowing her name to be used in the PAC’s contributions under another’s name.  (ETH-

20) 

 

Violation of federal law.  On the fourth and fifth pages of his letter, Mr. Youngblood 

asserts that the Gideon Leadership PAC violated three provisions in federal campaign 

finance law: (1) contributing in the name of another, (2) failing to register and report as a 

political committee with FEC, and (3) not segregating funds it had received from 

corporations from funds that it donated to federal candidates and committees.  (ETH-20 – 

ETH-21)  For your reference, those alleged violations are described in more detail in an 

attached memo from the Commission’s Political Committee and Lobbyist Registrar, 

Michael Dunn.  (ETH-122 – ETH-124) 

 

Violation of legislative ethics law.  Mr. Youngblood urges the Commission to evaluate 

whether Sara Gideon’s “use of her state PAC to violate federal law conforms with the 

requirement in the Legislative Code of Ethics that legislators must abide by ‘high moral 

and ethical standards.’”  (ETH-21)  
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Response by Sara Gideon 

Sara Gideon provided a letter-response through her attorneys Benjamin K. Grant of the 

McTeague Higbee law firm in Topsham, Maine and Perkins Coie, LLP in Washington, 

D.C.  (ETH-116 – ETH-121)  She states that she believed her payments and the PAC’s 

reimbursements were permissible (ETH-116), which is why her PAC reported all of the 

reimbursements in its campaign finance reports.  (ETH-119)  She was unaware of even 

an appearance of any violation.  (ETH-121)  Once she was alerted to possible compliance 

issues, she disgorged the funds to the U.S. Department of Treasury.  (Id.)  She denies 

involvement in any “scheme” to give in the name of another, and points to the lack of any 

bad motive or substantial harm to the public.  (ETH-120) 

 

Sara Gideon argues that the four federal contributions are outside the scope of the 

Commission’s jurisdiction, as defined in 21-A M.R.S. § 1011.  (ETH-117)  She also 

contends that Mr. Youngblood’s request has not stated a “violation of legislative ethics” 

that the Commission is authorized to investigate.  (ETH-117 – ETH-118) 

 

Analysis and Recommendation by Commission Staff 

 

The Commission staff recommends against conducting any investigation or taking other 

action in response to Mr. Youngblood’s request, for the reasons below. 

 

Standards for Conducting an Investigation 

The Commission is authorized to conduct an investigation “if the reasons stated for the 

request show sufficient grounds for believing that a violation may have occurred.”  (21-A 

M.R.S. § 1003(2)) (ETH-9)  If the preliminary facts suggest little likelihood of a 

campaign finance violation, the Commission staff typically recommends against an 

investigation. 

 

Contributions in the Name of Another 

The State of Maine (like many other jurisdictions) forbids making a contribution in the 

name of another person or allowing one’s name to be used in the making of such a 
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contribution.  (21-A M.R.S. § 1004(3)(A) & (B)) (ETH-10)  Violations of this type are 

rarely identified in Maine elections, but they are discovered in other states with some 

regularity.  The typical pattern is that a contributor wishes to give more to a candidate 

than is allowed by law, so the contributor gives money to close family, friends, or 

employees to contribute to the candidate.  This is inherently deceptive conduct in which 

the true source of the funds wishes to remain hidden, so the contributions are made and 

reported in the name of an intermediary or conduit.  A one-page summary of four 

examples is attached.  (ETH-125) 

 

In the opinion of the Commission staff, the Gideon Leadership PAC is distinguishable 

from these cases in one important respect.  The Gideon Leadership PAC clearly intended 

to report making contributions in its own name by reimbursing Sara Gideon.  The six 

relevant expenditure entries from the Gideon Leadership PAC’s campaign finance reports 

are copied below: 

(ETH-31, ETH-35, ETH-38, ETH-50, ETH-60, ETH-64)   
 

In the staff’s view, the facts and evidence presented in this matter do not support a 

conclusion that the Gideon Leadership PAC engaged in the deceptive conduct that the 

Legislature sought to prohibit in 21-A M.R.S. § 1004(3).  In its campaign finance reports, 

the PAC disclosed that it, not Sara Gideon, was the source of the contributions.   

For this reason, we recommend against conducting a campaign finance investigation into 

this allegation. 
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We acknowledge that the financial reporting by the Gideon Leadership PAC should have 

been more detailed with respect to three of the federal contributions (the first, fifth and 

sixth items in the array of expenditures on the previous page).  PACs are required to 

identify the names of “all candidates” and “all political committees” supported by the 

PAC.  (21-A M.R.S. §§ 1060(1) & (2))  The entry for the October 28, 2015 expenditure 

does not indicate that it was a reimbursement for a contribution to Cain for Congress, and 

the entry for the October 12, 2016 expenditure does not indicate it was a reimbursement 

for a contribution to the federal account of the Maine Democratic Party.  The PAC 

described the purpose of the July 25, 2016 expenditure as “Reimbursement for MDP 

Contribution,” but the acronym may not convey to members of the public that this was a 

contribution to the federal account of the Maine Democratic Party.  We cannot find any 

reason to fault, however, the Gideon Leadership PAC’s reporting of the reimbursements 

to Sara Gideon for the contributions to the Maine-based PACs (the House Democratic 

Campaign Committee or the Golden Leadership Fund). 

 

The financial reporting by the House Democratic Campaign Committee and the Golden 

Leadership Fund would have been clearer if Sara Gideon had informed them that she was 

acting as an intermediary and that the funds she was donating originated with her 

leadership PAC, and not from her personal funds.  Unlike campaign finance law 

regarding contributions to candidates, there is no legal requirement that an intermediary 

communicate to a recipient PAC or BQC the source of the contribution.  Nevertheless, 

the failure to communicate this information can cause confusion about the actual 

contributor to a PAC or BQC, as it has in this case. 

 

Lack of Jurisdiction Over Contributions to Federal Candidates and Committees 

In addition, the Commission staff believes there is a jurisdictional barrier to investigating 

the contributions to Cain for Congress and the MDP federal account.  Contributions to 

federal candidates and federal political committees are governed by the U.S. Code, Title 

52, sections 30101-30126, and Title 11 of the Code of Federal Regulations.  The FEC has 

developed procedures and guidance to make sure that contributions to federal candidates 

and political committees are disclosed clearly for the benefit of the public.  Accordingly, 
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the Maine Legislature decided that: “The [Ethics] commission does not have jurisdiction 

over financial activities to influence the nomination or election of candidates for federal 

office.”  (21-A M.R.S. § 1011) (ETH-12)  If there is a rationale for investigating the 

Gideon Leadership PAC’s contributions to Cain for Congress and the MDP federal 

account, the investigation should be conducted by the FEC, which would apply federal 

law, guidance and precedent to determine if the system of federal campaign finance 

disclosure was undermined. 

 

Legislative Ethics Violation 

Mr. Youngblood urges the Commission to consider whether Rep. Gideon’s “use of her 

State PAC to violate federal law conforms with the direction in the Legislative Code of 

Ethics to abide by ‘high moral and ethical standards.’”  The Legislative Code of Ethics is 

a statement of ethics adopted by each Legislature at the beginning of the First Regular 

Session.  The most recent version available is attached, for your reference.  (ETH-126) 

 

The Commission does not have the statutory authority to investigate allegations of 

violations of the Legislative Code of Ethics.  Such investigations would be solely under 

the jurisdiction of the legislative body of which the Legislator is a member. 

 

The Commission’s jurisdiction to consider complaints of legislative conduct is time-

limited and extends only to violations listed in 1 M.R.S. §§ 1014 & 1015 (conflicts of 

interest, unduly influencing a state agency, abuse of office or position, contracting with a 

state agency without competitive bidding, or accepting contributions from a lobbyist or 

client during session).  (ETH-5 – ETH-8)  Mr. Youngblood’s complaint fails to allege 

any specific violation of section 1014 or 1015 and concerns conduct that occurred more 

than three years ago.  Therefore, the Commission staff believes the Commission does not 

have the statutory jurisdiction to initiate an investigation of a violation of legislative 

ethics. 
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Federal Campaign Finance Law 

As recognized by Mr. Youngblood, the Commission does not have jurisdiction to 

investigate whether Sara Gideon or the Gideon Leadership PAC violated federal 

campaign finance laws.  Those issues will presumably be considered by the FEC in 

response to the complaint which Mr. Youngblood filed with that authority. 

 

Improving Commission Guidance on Reporting Contributions 

 

To the best of our knowledge, it is rare for a contributor to earmark or otherwise direct a 

contribution through an intermediary or conduit to a Maine PAC or ballot question 

committee (BQC).  Nevertheless, the Commission staff believes the best practice in these 

situations is for the recipient PAC or BQC to report the original person that provided the 

funds as the contributor – rather than the intermediary or conduit. 

 

To provide better guidance on this reporting issue, we propose inserting the following 

language in the PAC/BQC Guidebook for the 2020 elections: 

All contributions that are earmarked or otherwise directed through an 

intermediary or conduit to a PAC or BQC are considered to be contributions 

from that person to the PAC or BQC.  The intermediary or conduit shall 

inform the recipient PAC or BQC of the name of the person who originally 

provided the contribution.  In campaign finance reports, the PAC or BQC 

shall disclose that original source as the contributor, rather than the 

intermediary or conduit. 

 

In previous election years, we have included similar language in our guidebooks for 

candidates, based on the following language in the contribution limits statute that applies 

to contributions to candidates: 

For the purposes of the limitations imposed by this section, all contributions 

made by a person, either directly or indirectly, on behalf of a particular 

candidate, that are in any way earmarked or otherwise directed through an 

intermediary or conduit to the candidate are considered to be contributions 
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from that person to the candidate. The intermediary or conduit shall report 

the original source and the intended recipient of the contribution to the 

commission and to the intended recipient. 

(21-A M.R.S. § 1015(4)) (ETH-12)  There is no similar language in Maine campaign 

finance law concerning contributions made through an intermediary or conduit to a PAC 

or BQC.  However, the statutory prohibition against making a contribution in the name of 

another and the requirement that PACs and BQCs accurately report the source of their 

contributions provide sufficient support for the staff’s proposed guidance. 

 

Thank you for your consideration of this memo.  

 



Title 1, Maine Revised Statutes (Legislative Ethics) 

§ 1012. Definitions

As used in this subchapter, unless the context otherwise indicates, the following terms have the 

following meanings. 

. . . 

10. Violation of Legislative Ethics. “Violation of legislative ethics” means a violation

of the prohibitions in section 1014 or 1015.  

§ 1013. Authority; procedures

1. Authority.   The commission has authority:

A.  To issue, on request of any Legislator on an issue involving that Legislator, or on

its own motion, written advisory opinions and guidance on problems or questions

involving possible violations of legislative ethics;

B.  To investigate complaints alleging a violation of legislative ethics against any

Legislator, to investigate a possible violation of legislative ethics upon the

commission’s own motion, to hold hearings on an alleged or possible violation if the

commission determines it is appropriate and to issue findings of fact together with its

opinion; and

C.  To administer the disclosure of sources of income by Legislators as required by

this subchapter.

2. Procedure.   The following procedures apply.

A.  Requests for advisory opinions by members of the Legislature must be filed with

the commission in writing and signed by the Legislator requesting the opinion and

must contain such supporting data as the commission requires. Commission staff shall

inform a Legislator upon that Legislator’s request for an advisory opinion that written

opinions issued by the commission are public and are submitted to the Clerk of the

House and the Secretary of the Senate and entered into the legislative record. When

preparing an advisory opinion on its own motion, the commission shall notify the

Legislator concerned and allow the Legislator to provide additional information to the

commission. In preparing an advisory opinion, either upon request or on its own

motion, the commission may make such an investigation as it determines necessary.

A copy of the commission’s advisory opinion must be sent to the Legislator

concerned and to the presiding officer of the legislative body of which the Legislator

is a member.

B-1.  Any person may file a complaint against a Legislator alleging a violation of 
legislative ethics only as described in sections 1014 and 1015. The complaint must be 
filed in writing and signed under oath and must specify the facts of the alleged

ETH-1



violation citing the specific provisions of sections 1014 and 1015 that are alleged to 

have been violated, the approximate date of the alleged violation and such other 

information as the commission requires. A complainant shall agree in writing not to 

disclose any information about the complaint during the time the commission is 

determining whether or not to pursue the complaint or during the investigation of a 

complaint. A complaint that does not meet the criteria of this paragraph is considered 

incomplete and will not be forwarded to the commission. 

1) The Legislator against whom a complaint is filed must immediately be given a

copy of the complaint and the name of the complainant. Before deciding whether 

to conduct an investigation or to hold any hearings, the commission shall afford 

the Legislator an opportunity to answer the complaint in writing and in person to 

the commission. The commission staff may gather preliminary factual 

information that will assist the commission in deciding whether to conduct a full 

investigation or to hold hearings. 

2) The commission shall consider only complaints against Legislators in office at

the time of the filing of the complaint and only complaints relating to activity that 

occurred or was ongoing within 2 years of the complaint. Upon a majority vote of 

the commission, the commission shall conduct an investigation and hold hearings 

as it determines necessary. 

3) The commission shall issue its findings of fact together with its opinion

regarding the alleged violation of legislative ethics to the legislative body of 

which the Legislator concerned is a member. That legislative body may take 

whatever action it determines appropriate, in accordance with the Constitution of 

Maine. 

4) If the commission determines that a Legislator has potentially violated

professional standards set by a licensing board, its opinion and such other 

information as may be appropriate must be referred to the licensing board that 

oversees the Legislator’s professional conduct. 

B-2.  If the commission receives information other than through a complaint 

suggesting that a Legislator may have committed a violation of legislative ethics, the 

commission may commence an investigation or conduct hearings when there is 

probable cause to believe that a violation has occurred. The commission may consider 

only activities by a Legislator in office at the time of the investigation that occurred 

or were ongoing within 2 years of the investigation. The commission shall provide the 

Legislator with written notice of the possible violation and an opportunity to be heard 

in accordance with the requirements of paragraph B-1. The commission’s 

consideration of the possible violation is subject to the confidentiality provisions of 

subsection 3-A. 

C.  When the conduct of a particular Legislator is under inquiry and a hearing is to be 

held, the Legislator must be given written notification of the time and place at which 

ETH-2



the hearing is to be held. Such notification must be given not less than 10 days prior 

to the date set for the hearing. 

D.  The commission has authority, through its chair or any member designated by the 

chair, to administer oaths, subpoena witnesses and compel the production of books, 

records, papers, documents, correspondence and other material and records the 

commission determines relevant. The State, its agencies and instrumentalities shall 

furnish to the commission any information, records or documents the commission 

designates as being necessary for the exercise of its functions and duties. In the case 

of refusal of any person to obey an order or subpoena of the commission, the Superior 

Court, upon application of the commission, has jurisdiction and authority to require 

compliance with the order or subpoena. Any failure of any person to obey an order of 

the Superior Court may be punished by that court as contempt thereof. 

E.  The commission shall adopt rules consistent with due process for the conduct of 

investigations and hearings under this subchapter. Rules adopted pursuant to this 

paragraph are major substantive rules pursuant to Title 5, chapter 375, subchapter 2-

A. 

The commission is not bound by the strict rules of evidence, but its findings and 

opinions must be based upon competent and substantial evidence. 

E-1.  The commission may permit the complainant to make a presentation to the 

commission as part of its consideration whether to conduct an investigation or public 

hearing. 

F.  If the commission concludes that it appears that a Legislator has violated a 

criminal law, a copy of its findings of fact, its opinion and such other information as 

may be appropriate must be referred to the Attorney General. Any determination by 

the commission or by a legislative body that a violation of legislative ethics has 

occurred does not preclude any criminal action relating to the violation that may be 

brought against the Legislator. 

G.  If the commission determines that a complaint filed under oath is frivolous or was 

filed in bad faith or if the complainant fails to appear at the hearing without being 

excused by the commission, the commission may order the complainant to pay to the 

Legislator against whom the complaint has been filed that Legislator’s costs of 

investigation and defense, including any reasonable attorney’s fees. This order is 

considered a final agency action, and the complainant may appeal the order pursuant 

to the Maine Administrative Procedure Act. If the commission determines that the 

complaint was filed in bad faith, the commission shall refer the case to the Attorney 

General for investigation. 

Such an order does not preclude any other remedy available to the Legislator against 

whom the complaint has been filed, including, but not limited to, an action brought in 

Superior Court against the complainant for damages to the Legislator’s reputation. 
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H.  The commission shall file with the Clerk of the House and the Secretary of the 

Senate a copy of written advisory opinions and guidance issued by the commission 

that were formally requested by a Legislator and that were considered by the 

commission at a public meeting, with such deletions and changes as the commission 

considers necessary to protect the identity of the person seeking the opinions or 

others. The Clerk of the House shall keep a copy of such opinions and guidance in a 

special binder and shall finally publish them in the Legislative Record. The 

commission may exempt an opinion or a part of an opinion from release, publication 

or inspection if it considers such action appropriate for the protection of 3rd parties 

and makes available to the public an explanatory statement to that effect. 

I.  A copy of the commission’s findings of fact and opinions regarding complaints 

against Legislators must also be filed with the Clerk of the House and the Secretary of 

the Senate. The Clerk of the House shall keep them in a special binder and shall 

finally publish them in the Legislative Record. 

K.  When a Legislator has a question or problem of an emergency nature about a 

possible violation of legislative ethics or an issue involving that Legislator that arises 

during the course of legislative action, the Legislator may request an advisory opinion 

from the presiding officer of the legislative body of which the Legislator is a member. 

The presiding officer may issue an advisory opinion. An advisory opinion issued by 

the presiding officer must be in accordance with the principles of this subchapter, be 

in writing and be reported to the commission. The commission may then issue a 

further opinion on the matter. The presiding officer may refer such a question or 

problem directly to the commission, which shall meet as soon as possible to consider 

the question or problem. 

L.  The commission shall make reasonable efforts to resolve a complaint within 90 

days of its filing. 

3-A.  Confidentiality of Records and Proceedings Relating to Screening Complaints 

Alleging a Violation of Legislative Ethics.   Notwithstanding chapter 13, a complaint 

alleging a violation of legislative ethics is confidential and is not a public record until 

after the commission has voted pursuant to subsection 2, paragraph B-1 to pursue the 

complaint, and a commission proceeding to determine whether to pursue a complaint 

must be conducted in executive session. If the commission does not vote to pursue the 

complaint, the complaint and records relating to the investigation of that complaint 

remain confidential and are not public records unless the Legislator against whom the 

complaint is made submits a written request that the complaint and all accompanying 

materials be made public. This subsection does not prohibit a complainant from 

disclosing information that the complainant provided to the commission as part of the 

complaint or investigation once the commission has determined not to pursue the 

complaint or the investigation of a complaint is complete. This subsection does not 

prevent the commission from including general information about complaints in any 

report to the Legislature. Any person who knowingly breaches the confidentiality of a 

complaint investigation commits a Class D crime. This subsection does not prevent 

commission staff from disclosing information to a person from whom the commission is 
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seeking information or evidence relevant to the complaint that is necessary to investigate 

the complaint or prevent the complainant or the Legislator against whom the complaint is 

made from discussing the complaint with an attorney or other person assisting them with 

the complaint. The commission or commission staff shall inform any person with whom 

they communicate of the requirement to keep any information regarding the complaint 

investigation confidential. 

4. Confidentiality of Records Other than Complaints.   Commission records other

than complaints are governed by this subsection. 

A.  Investigative records relating to complaints that the commission has voted to 

pursue are confidential unless they are provided to commission members or otherwise 

distributed at a public hearing of the commission. 

B.  Legislators’ statements of sources of income are public records. 

C.  Findings of fact and recommendations of the commission on complaints alleging 

violation of legislative ethics are public records. 

D.  Advisory opinions of the commission and requests for advisory opinions from the 

commission are public records, except as provided in subsection 2, paragraph H. 

5. Prohibited Communications.   Communications concerning a complaint filed under

this section between commission members and a complainant or between commission 

members and the subject of a complaint are prohibited until after the commission has 

voted not to pursue a complaint or the commission has taken final action on the 

complaint. 

§ 1014. Violations of legislative ethics

1. Situations Involving Conflict of Interest.   A Legislator engages in a violation of

legislative ethics if that Legislator votes on a question in connection with a conflict of 

interest in committee or in either body of the Legislature or attempts to influence the 

outcome of that question unless a presiding officer in accordance with the Joint Rules of 

the Legislature requires a Legislator to vote or advises the Legislator that there is no 

conflict in accordance with section 1013, subsection 2, paragraph K. A conflict of interest 

includes: 

A.  When a Legislator or a member of the Legislator’s immediate family has or 

acquires a direct substantial personal financial interest, distinct from that of the 

general public, in an enterprise that would be financially benefited by proposed 

legislation, or derives a direct substantial personal financial benefit from close 

economic association with a person known by the Legislator to have a direct financial 

interest in an enterprise affected by proposed legislation; 

B.  When a Legislator or a member of the Legislator’s immediate family accepts gifts, 

other than campaign contributions duly recorded as required by law, from persons 

affected by legislation or who have an interest in an entity affected by proposed 
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legislation and the Legislator knows or reasonably should know that the purpose of 

the donor in making the gift is to influence the Legislator in the performance of the 

Legislator’s official duties or vote or is intended as a reward for action on the 

Legislator’s part; 

C.  Receiving compensation or reimbursement not authorized by law for services, 

advice or assistance as a Legislator; 

D.  Appearing for, representing or advocating on behalf of another before the 

Legislature, unless without compensation and for the benefit of a citizen; 

E.  When a Legislator or a member of the Legislator’s immediate family accepts or 

engages in employment that could impair the Legislator’s judgment, or when the 

Legislator knows that there is a substantial possibility that an opportunity for 

employment is being afforded the Legislator or a member of the Legislator’s 

immediate family with intent to influence the performance of the Legislator’s official 

duties, or when the Legislator or a member of his immediate family stands to derive a 

personal private gain or loss from employment, because of legislative action, distinct 

from the gain or losses of other employees or the general community; and 

F.  When a Legislator or a member of the Legislator’s immediate family has an 

interest in legislation relating to a profession, trade, business or employment in which 

the Legislator or a member of the Legislator’s immediate family is engaged and the 

benefit derived by the Legislator or a member of the Legislator’s immediate family is 

unique and distinct from that of the general public or persons engaged in similar 

professions, trades, businesses or employment. 

2-A.  Undue Influence.   It is a violation of legislative ethics for a Legislator to engage in 

conduct that constitutes the exertion of undue influence, including, but not limited to: 

A.  Appearing for, representing or advocating for another person in a matter before a 

state agency or authority, for compensation other than compensation as a Legislator, 

if the Legislator makes reference to that Legislator’s legislative capacity, 

communicates with the agency or authority on legislative stationery or makes threats 

or implications relating to legislative action; 

B.  Appearing for, representing or advocating for another person in a matter before a 

state agency or authority if the Legislator oversees the policies of the agency or 

authority as a result of the Legislator’s committee responsibilities, unless: 

1) The appearance, representation or advocacy is provided without compensation

and for the benefit of a constituent; 

2) The Legislator is engaged in the conduct of the Legislator’s profession and is

in good standing with a licensing board, if any, that oversees the Legislator’s 

profession; 
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3) The appearance, representation or advocacy is provided before a court or

office of the judicial branch; or 

4) The representation consists of filing records or reports or performing other

routine tasks that do not involve the exercise of discretion on the part of the 

agency or authority; and 

C.  Representing or assisting another person in the sale of goods or services to the 

State, a state agency or a state authority, unless the transaction occurs after public 

notice and competitive bidding. 

3. Abuse of Office or Position.   It is a violation of legislative ethics for a Legislator to

engage in conduct that constitutes an abuse of office or position, including but not limited 

to: 

A.  When a Legislator or a member of the Legislator’s immediate family has a direct 

financial interest or an interest through a close economic associate in a contract for 

goods or services with the State, a state agency or state authority, unless the contract 

is awarded through competitive bidding or is exempt from competitive bidding 

pursuant to state purchasing laws or the payment provisions are based on uniform 

rates established by the State, a state agency, a state authority or other governmental 

entity; 

B.  Granting or obtaining special privilege, exemption or preferential treatment to or 

for oneself or another, which privilege, exemption or treatment is not readily 

available to members of the general community or class to which the beneficiary 

belongs; and 

C.  Use or disclosure of confidential information obtained because of office or 

position for the benefit of self or another. 

4. Contract with State Governmental Agency.   It is a violation of legislative ethics for

a Legislator or an associated organization to enter with a state agency into any contract 

that is to be paid in whole or in part out of governmental funds unless the contract has 

been awarded through a process of public notice and competitive bidding or is exempt 

from competitive bidding pursuant to state purchasing laws. 

§ 1015. Prohibited campaign contributions and solicitations

. . . 

3. Campaign Contributions and Solicitations Prohibited.  The following provisions

prohibit certain campaign contributions and solicitation of campaign contributions during 

a legislative session. 

A.  As used in this subsection, the terms “employer,” “lobbyist” and “lobbyist 

associate” have the same meanings as in Title 3, section 312-A. As used in this 

subsection, “contribution” has the same meaning as in Title 21-A, section 1012 and 
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includes seed money contributions as defined in Title 21-A, section 1122, subsection 

9. 

B. The Governor, a member of the Legislature or any constitutional officer or the 

staff or agent of the Governor, a member of the Legislature or any constitutional 

officer may not intentionally solicit or accept a contribution from a lobbyist, lobbyist 

associate or employer during any period of time in which the Legislature is convened 

before final adjournment, except for a qualifying contribution as defined under Title 

21-A, section 1122, subsection 7. A lobbyist, lobbyist associate or employer may not 

intentionally give, offer or promise a contribution, other than a qualifying 

contribution, to the Governor, a member of the Legislature or any constitutional 

officer or the staff or agent of the Governor, a member of the Legislature or any 

constitutional officer during any time in which the Legislature is convened before 

final adjournment. These prohibitions apply to contributions directly and indirectly 

solicited or accepted by, or given, offered and promised to a political action 

committee, ballot question committee or party committee of which the Governor, a 

member of the Legislature, a constitutional officer or the staff or agent of these 

officials is a treasurer, officer or primary fund-raiser or decision maker. 

C. This subsection does not apply to: 

1) Solicitations or contributions for bona fide social events hosted for nonpartisan,

charitable purposes; 

2) Solicitations or contributions relating to a special election to fill a vacancy

from the time of announcement of the election until the election; and 

4) Solicitations or contributions accepted by a member of the Legislature

supporting that member’s campaign for federal office. 

C-1. This subsection does not prohibit the attendance of the Governor, a member of 

the Legislature or any constitutional officer or the staff or agent of the Governor, a 

member of the Legislature or any constitutional officer at fund-raising events held by 

a municipal, county, state or national political party organized pursuant to Title 21-A, 

chapter 5, nor the advertisement of the expected presence of any such official at any 

such event, as long as any such official has no involvement in soliciting attendance at 

the event and all proceeds are paid directly to the political party organization hosting 

the event or a nonprofit charitable organization. 

D. A person who intentionally violates this subsection is subject to a civil penalty not 

to exceed $ 1,000, payable to the State and recoverable in a civil action. 
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Title 21-A, Maine Revised Statutes (Campaign Finance) 

§ 1003. Investigations by commission

1. Investigations.  The commission may undertake audits and investigations to

determine whether a person has violated this chapter, chapter 14 or the rules of the 

commission. For this purpose, the commission may subpoena witnesses and records 

whether located within or without the State and take evidence under oath. A person or 

entity that fails to obey the lawful subpoena of the commission or to testify before it 

under oath must be punished by the Superior Court for contempt upon application by the 

Attorney General on behalf of the commission. The Attorney General may apply on 

behalf of the commission to the Superior Court or to a court of another state to enforce 

compliance with a subpoena issued to a nonresident person. Service of any subpoena 

issued by the commission may be accomplished by: 

A.  Delivering a duly executed copy of the notice to the person to be served or to a 

partner or to any officer or agent authorized by appointment or by law to receive 

service of process on behalf of that person; 

B.  Delivering a duly executed copy of the notice to the principal place of business in 

this State of the person to be served; or 

C.  Mailing by registered or certified mail a duly executed copy of the notice, 

addressed to the person to be served, to the person’s principal place of business. 

2. Investigations requested.  A person may apply in writing to the commission

requesting an investigation as described in subsection 1. The commission shall review the 

application and shall make the investigation if the reasons stated for the request show 

sufficient grounds for believing that a violation may have occurred. 

3. State Auditor.  The State Auditor shall assist the commission in making

investigations and in other phases of the commission’s duties under this chapter, as 

requested by the commission, and has all necessary powers to carry out these 

responsibilities. 

3-A.  Confidential records.  Investigative working papers of the commission are 

confidential, except that the commission may disclose them to the subject of the audit or 

investigation, other entities as necessary for the conduct of an audit or investigation and 

law enforcement and other agencies for purposes of reporting, investigating or 

prosecuting a criminal or civil violation. For purposes of this subsection, “investigative 

working papers” means documents, records and other printed or electronic information in 

the following limited categories that are acquired, prepared or maintained by the 

commission during the conduct of an audit, investigation or other enforcement matter: 

A. Financial information not normally available to the public; 
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B. Information that, if disclosed, would reveal sensitive political or campaign 

information belonging to a party committee, political action committee, ballot 

question committee, candidate or candidate’s political committee, or other person 

who is the subject of an audit, investigation or other enforcement matter, even if the 

information is in the possession of a vendor or 3rd party; 

C. Information or records subject to a privilege against discovery or use as evidence; 

and 

D. Intra-agency or interagency communications related to an audit or investigation, 

including any record of an interview, meeting or examination. 

The commission may disclose investigative working papers or discuss them at a public 

meeting, except for the information or records subject to a privilege against discovery or 

use as evidence, if the information or record is materially relevant to a memorandum or 

interim or final report by the commission staff or a decision by the commission 

concerning an audit, investigation or other enforcement matter. A memorandum or report 

on the audit or investigation prepared by staff for the commission may be disclosed at the 

time it is submitted to the commission, as long as the subject of the audit or investigation 

has an opportunity to review it first to identify material that the subject of the audit or 

investigation considers privileged or confidential under some other provision of law. 

4. Attorney General.  Upon the request of the commission, the Attorney General shall

aid in any investigation, provide advice, examine any witnesses before the commission or 

otherwise assist the commission in the performance of its duties. The commission shall 

refer any apparent violations of this chapter to the Attorney General for prosecution. 

§ 1004. Violations

The violation of any of the following subsections is a Class E crime. 

1. Contributions and expenditures.   A person, candidate, treasurer, political

committee or political action committee may not knowingly make or accept any 

contribution or make any expenditure in violation of this chapter. 

2. False statements.   A person, candidate, treasurer or political action committee

may not make a false statement in a report required by this chapter. 

3. Contributions in another’s name.   A person may not knowingly:

A.  Make a contribution in the name of another person;

B.  Permit the person’s name to be used to accomplish a contribution in violation

of paragraph A; or

C.  Accept a contribution made by one person in the name of another person.
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4. Registration; political action committees.   A political action committee or

ballot question committee required to be registered under section 1052-A or 1056-B 

may not operate in this State unless it is so registered. 

§ 1004-A. Penalties

The commission may assess the following penalties in addition to the other monetary 

sanctions authorized in this chapter. 

1. Late campaign finance report.  A person that files a late campaign finance report

containing no contributions or expenditures may be assessed a penalty of no more 

than $100. 

2. Contribution in excess of limitations.  A person that accepts or makes a

contribution that exceeds the limitations set out in section 1015, subsections 1 and 2 

may be assessed a penalty of no more than the amount by which the contribution 

exceeded the limitation. 

3. Contribution in name of another person.  A person that makes a contribution in

the name of another person, or that knowingly accepts a contribution made by one 

person in the name of another person, may be assessed a penalty not to exceed 

$5,000. 

4. Substantial misreporting.  A person that files a campaign finance report that

substantially misreports contributions, expenditures or other campaign activity may 

be assessed a penalty not to exceed $5,000. 

5. Material false statements.  A person that makes a material false statement or that

makes a statement that includes a material misrepresentation in a document that is 

required to be submitted to the commission, or that is submitted in response to a 

request by the commission, may be assessed a penalty not to exceed $5,000. 

When the commission has reason to believe that a violation has occurred, the commission 

shall provide written notice to the candidate, party committee, political action committee, 

committee treasurer or other respondent and shall afford them an opportunity to appear 

before the commission before assessing any penalty. In determining any penalty under 

subsections 3, 4 and 5, the commission shall consider, among other things, the level of 

intent to mislead, the penalty necessary to deter similar misconduct in the future and the 

harm suffered by the public from the incorrect disclosure. A final determination by the 

commission may be appealed to the Superior Court in accordance with Title 5, chapter 

375, subchapter 7 and the Maine Rules of Civil Procedure Rule 80C. 

Penalties assessed pursuant to this section that have not been paid in full within 30 days 

after issuance of a notice of the final determination may be enforced in accordance with 

section 1004-B. 
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§ 1011.  Application

This subchapter applies to candidates for all state and county offices and to campaigns for their 

nomination and election. Candidates for municipal office as described in Title 30-A, section 

2502, subsection 1 are also governed by this subchapter. The commission does not have 

jurisdiction over financial activities to influence the nomination or election of candidates for 

federal office. 

. . . 

§ 1015. Limitations on contributions and expenditures

. . . 

4. Political committees; intermediaries.  For the purpose of the limitations imposed by

this section, contributions made to any political committee authorized by a candidate to 

accept contributions on the candidate’s behalf are considered to be contributions made to 

that candidate. If the campaign activities of a political action committee within a calendar 

year primarily promote or support the nomination or election of a single candidate, 

contributions to the committee that were solicited by the candidate are considered to be 

contributions made to the candidate for purposes of the limitations in this section. For 

purposes of this subsection, solicitation of contributions includes but is not limited to the 

candidate’s appearing at a fundraising event organized by or on behalf of the political 

action committee or suggesting that a donor make a contribution to that committee.  

For the purposes of the limitations imposed by this section, all contributions made by a 

person, either directly or indirectly, on behalf of a particular candidate, that are in any way 

earmarked or otherwise directed through an intermediary or conduit to the candidate are 

considered to be contributions from that person to the candidate. The intermediary or 

conduit shall report the original source and the intended recipient of the contribution to the 

commission and to the intended recipient. 

. . . 
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CMR 94-270-001 

94 270 001. PROCEDURES 

SECTION 4.  INITIATION OF PROCEEDINGS  

1. Legislative Ethics. The Commission is authorized to investigate and make

advisory recommendations to either House of the Maine Legislature concerning 

legislative conflicts of interest or any breach of the legislative ethics set forth in 1 

M.R.S.A. §§ 1001 - 1023. The Commission's opinion may be sought by three 

methods, or the Commission may act on its own motion.   

A.  Legislator's Own Conduct  

(1)  A Legislator seeking an advisory opinion with respect to his or her own 

circumstances or conduct should make a written request for an opinion, setting 

forth the pertinent facts with respect to the legislative matter at issue and the 

circumstances of the Legislator giving rise to the inquiry.   

(2)  The request will be officially filed only when received at the offices of the 

Commission. The Director will promptly send a copy of the request to the 

Chair, and the matter will be placed on the agenda for the next Commission 

meeting, or if necessary, at a special meeting.   

(3)  An oral request by a Legislator for an opinion with respect to his or her 

own circumstances will not be considered an official request for an advisory 

opinion, and a Legislator making such a request will be so notified, by letter, 

and encouraged to file a written request.   

B.  Complaints. Any written complaint will be included in the agenda of the next 

Commission meeting.   

(1)  Complaint by a Legislator. Copies of any sworn complaint filed by a 

Legislator will promptly be sent to the Legislator against whom the complaint 

has been lodged and to the Commission Chair, in each case identifying the 

Legislator making the complaint. A complaint invokes the Commission's 

authority only if made under oath and only if it addresses an alleged conflict 

of interest relating to circumstances arising during the term of the legislature 

then in office.   

(2)  Other Complaints  

(a)  The Director will review each complaint to determine whether the 

matter relates to the Commission's statutory mandate. When a complaint is 

filed, the Director, in consultation with Commission Counsel, will review 

the matter to determine whether the complaint has sufficient merit to 

warrant recommending the calling of a meeting. When a meeting is called, 

the Commission will determine in executive session whether to hear the 
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complaint. If the nature of the complaint clearly does not fall within the 

scope of the Commission's jurisdiction, the Director will so notify the 

complainant by letter within 14 days of receiving the complaint. In such 

cases, the respondent need not be notified. The Commission may reverse 

any administrative decision.   

(b)  An oral complaint by any person alleging a conflict of interest 

concerning any legislator does not constitute a complaint under 1 

M.R.S.A. §1013(2)(B), and a person registering such a complaint will be 

so notified, by letter.   

C.  Referral by Presiding Officer. When a Legislator has requested an advisory 

opinion from the Presiding Officer of the House of which he/she is a member, and 

the Presiding Officer has referred the inquiry directly to the Commission, the 

Director will arrange a meeting of the Commission as soon as possible to consider 

the question.   

2. Election Campaign Reporting and Maine Clean Election Act Violations

A.  Compliance Review. The Commission staff will review all campaign finance

reports filed by candidates pursuant to 21-A M.R.S.A., chapters 13 and 14 to

verify compliance with the financial disclosure and documentation requirements

set by statute or rule. The staff will review a selection of other campaign finance

reports filed by non-candidate committees with the Commission for compliance

with legal requirements. Notice of any omission, error, or violation will be given

to the filer by electronic mail or U.S. Mail. The Commission staff will establish a

reasonable time period for the filer to remedy any omission or error. The

Commission staff shall schedule any substantial violations for possible action by

the Commissioners at a public meeting. If the filer fails to remedy minor

violations, the Commission staff will use its discretion whether to take any further

action. Minor violations include, but are not limited to, failing to report the

employment information for a contributor or misusing an expenditure code to

describe the purpose of an expenditure.

B.  Late Reports and Registrations. Where required by statute, notice of failure to

file a required report will be timely sent by Commission staff. When a report or

registration is filed late, the Director's recommendations will be based on the

following considerations:

(1)  Lateness of report or registration,   

(2)  Reason for lateness,   

(3)  Kind of report (more stringent application for pre-election reports),  

(4)  Amount of campaign funds not properly reported,   

(5)  Previous record of the filer; and   
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(6)  Good faith effort of the filer to remedy the matter.  

C.  Any person (as defined in 21-A M.R.S.A. §1001) may make an official 

complaint or request for a Commission investigation by filing a signed written 

request at the Commission's office, setting forth such facts with sufficient details 

as are necessary to specify the alleged violation. A copy of the signed request may 

be filed by facsimile or by electronic mail, provided that the original signed 

request is submitted to the Commission. Statements should be made upon 

personal knowledge. Statements which are not based upon personal knowledge 

must identify the source of the information which is the basis for the request, so 

that respondents and Commission staff may adequately respond to the request. A 

copy of any such written request will be promptly mailed to the candidate or 

organization alleged to have violated the statutory requirements. The Director 

may conduct preliminary fact finding to prepare a matter for presentation to the 

Commission. The Director, in consultation with Counsel, will prepare a summary 

of staff findings and recommendations for inclusion on the agenda.    

D.  An oral report of a violation, or a written request containing insufficient detail 

to specify the violation charged, does not constitute an official request for a 

Commission determination, and a person registering such a complaint will be so 

notified.   

E.  The signature of a person authorized to sign a report or form constitutes 

certification by that person of the completeness and accuracy of the information 

reported. The use of a password in filing an electronic report constitutes 

certification of the completeness and accuracy of the report. 

  SECTION 5.  FACT FINDING AND INVESTIGATIONS  

1. Before Commission Meeting. With respect to any inquiry, complaint, or request

for Commission action properly filed in accordance with the preceding section, or any 

potential violation that comes to the attention of Commission staff through an audit or 

review of reports, the Director may conduct such preliminary investigation as is 

deemed prudent and desirable. If the preliminary investigation suggests that a 

complaint is without factual basis, the Director may inquire with the person filing the 

complaint whether he wishes to withdraw the request for further investigation. When 

a matter is ready for presentation to the Commission, the Director, in consultation 

with Counsel, will prepare a summary of findings and recommendations for inclusion 

on the agenda.   

2. By the Commission. Once any matter is reached on the agenda of a Commission

meeting, the Commission will control any further investigation or proceedings. No 

hearings will be held except by direction of the Commission. On a case-by-case basis, 

the Commission may authorize its Chair, Director, or any ad hoc committee of its 

members, to conduct further investigative proceedings on behalf of the Commission 

between Commission meetings. Any authorization so conferred will be fully reflected 

in the minutes of the Commission meeting. Consultations between the Commission 
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and its Counsel concerning an investigation (including the issuance of subpoenas) 

where premature public knowledge of the investigation would place the Commission 

or another investigatory office at a substantial disadvantage may be held in executive 

session pursuant to 1 M.R.S.A. §§ 405(6)(E), 1005, and 1013(3-A).   

3. Use of Commission's Subpoena Power. The Chair is authorized to issue

subpoenas in the name of the Commission to compel the attendance of witnesses or 

the production of records, documents or other evidence when the Chair and the 

Commission's Counsel are in agreement that the testimony or evidence sought by the 

subpoena is necessary to disposition of the matter; and to issue any subpoena in the 

name of the Commission on behalf of any person having a statutory right to an 

agency subpoena. Any oral testimony compelled by a subpoena issued by this 

provision will be presented to the Commission or its staff.    

4. Hearings. The Commission may hold a hearing to receive testimony under oath.

Any hearing must be conducted in accordance with the Maine Administrative 

Procedure Act [5 M.R.S.A. §§ 8001 et seq. ] and Chapter 2 of the Commission's 

Rules.   

ETH-16



ETH-17



ETH-18



ETH-19



ETH-20



ETH-21



ETH-22



ETH-23



ETH-24



ETH-25



ETH-26



ETH-27



ETH-28



ETH-29



ETH-30



ETH-31



ETH-32



ETH-33



ETH-34



ETH-35



ETH-36



ETH-37



ETH-38



ETH-39



ETH-40



ETH-41



ETH-42



ETH-43



ETH-44



ETH-45



ETH-46



ETH-47



ETH-48



ETH-49



ETH-50



ETH-51



ETH-52



ETH-53



ETH-54



ETH-55



ETH-56



ETH-57



ETH-58



ETH-59



ETH-60



ETH-61



ETH-62



ETH-63



ETH-64



ETH-65



ETH-66



ETH-67



ETH-68



ETH-69



ETH-70



ETH-71



ETH-72



ETH-73



ETH-74



ETH-75



ETH-76



ETH-77



ETH-78



ETH-79



ETH-80



ETH-81



ETH-82



ETH-83



ETH-84



ETH-85



ETH-86



ETH-87



ETH-88



ETH-89



ETH-90



ETH-91



ETH-92



ETH-93



ETH-94



ETH-95



ETH-96



ETH-97



ETH-98



ETH-99



ETH-100



ETH-101



ETH-102



ETH-103



ETH-104



ETH-105



ETH-106



ETH-107



ETH-108



ETH-109



ETH-110



ETH-111



ETH-112



ETH-113



Re
ci
pi
en

t C
om

m
itt
ee

Re
po

rt
ed

 
D
at
e

Re
po

rt
ed

 
Am

ou
nt

Re
po

rt
ed

 
Co

nt
rib

ut
or

Re
po

rt
ed

 P
ay
ee

Re
po

rt
ed

 D
at
e

Re
po

rt
ed

 
Am

ou
nt

Ex
pl
an

at
io
n 
of
 P
ur
po

se

Ca
in
 fo

r C
on

gr
es
s (
Ex
h.
 B
)

9/
30

/2
01

5
$1

,0
00

.0
0
Sa
ra
 I 
G
id
eo

n
Sa
ra
 G
id
eo

n
10

/2
8/
20

15
$1

,0
00

.0
0
Re

im
bu

rs
em

en
t f
or

fe
de

ra
l c
on

tr
ib
ut
io
n

Ca
in
 fo

r C
on

gr
es
s (
Ex
h.
 C
)

6/
13

/2
01

6
$2

50
.0
0
Sa
ra
 I 
G
id
eo

n
Em

ily
 C
ai
n 
fo
r C

on
gr
es
s

6/
1/
20

16
$2

50
.0
0
Co

nt
rib

ut
io
n 
‐ 

Re
im

bu
rs
em

en
t t
o 
Sa
ra
 

G
id
eo

n

Ho
us
e 
De

m
oc
ra
tic

 C
am

pa
ig
n 

Co
m
m
itt
ee

 (E
xh
. D

)
8/
3/
20

16
$2

50
.0
0
Sa
ra
 G
id
eo

n
Ho

us
e 
De

m
oc
ra
tic

 
Ca

m
pa

ig
n 
Co

m
m
itt
ee

6/
1/
20

16
$2

50
.0
0
Co

nt
rib

ut
io
n 
‐ 

Re
im

bu
rs
em

en
t t
o 
Sa
ra
 

G
id
eo

n

G
ol
de

n 
Le
ad

er
sh
ip
 F
un

d 
(E
xh
. 

E)
6/
25

/2
01

6
$2

50
.0
0
Sa
ra
 G
id
eo

n
G
ol
de

n 
Le
ad

er
sh
ip
 F
un

d
6/
27

/2
01

6
$2

50
.0
0
Co

nt
rib

ut
io
n 
‐ 

Re
im

bu
rs
em

en
t t
o 
Sa
ra
 

G
id
eo

n
M
ai
ne

 D
em

oc
ra
tic

 S
ta
te
 

Co
m
m
itt
ee

 (F
ed

er
al
 a
cc
ou

nt
) 

(E
xh
. F
)

7/
11

/2
01

6
$1

,0
00

.0
0
Sa
ra
 I.
 G
id
eo

n
Sa
ra
 G
id
eo

n
7/
25

/2
01

6
$1

,0
00

.0
0
Re

im
bu

rs
em

en
t f
or
 M

DP
co
nt
rib

ut
io
n

M
ai
ne

 D
em

oc
ra
tic

 S
ta
te
 

Co
m
m
itt
ee

 (F
ed

er
al
 a
cc
ou

nt
) 

(E
xh
. G

)
10

/3
/2
01

6
$5

00
.0
0
Sa
ra
 I.
 G
id
eo

n
Sa
ra
 G
id
eo

n
10

/1
2/
20

16
$5

00
.0
0
Re

im
bu

rs
em

en
t f
or

co
nt
rib

ut
io
n

Co
nt
rib

ut
io
ns
 R
ep

or
te
d 
by

 R
ec
ip
ie
nt
 C
om

m
itt
ee

s
Re

im
bu

rs
em

en
ts
 to

 S
ar
a 
G
id
eo

n
(a
s r

ep
or
te
d 
by

 G
id
eo

n 
Le
ad

er
sh
ip
 P
AC

)

At
ta
ch
m
en

t A
 ‐ 
Co

nt
rib

ut
io
ns
 a
nd

 R
ei
m
bu

rs
em

en
ts
 ‐ 
G
id
eo

n 
Le
ad

er
sh
ip
 P
AC

 (R
EV

IS
ED

)

ETH-114



ETH-115



ETH-116



ETH-117



ETH-118



ETH-119



ETH-120



ETH-121



MEMORANDUM 

To: Commission 
From: Michael J. Dunn, Political Committee and Lobbyist Registrar  
Date: October 18, 2019 
Re: Summary of Mr. Youngblood’s FEC complaint against Ms. Gideon and her PAC  

INTRODUCTION 

The purpose of this memorandum is to summarize the Complaint filed by Mr. Edward 

Youngblood (hereinafter, “Mr. Youngblood”) against Ms. Sara Gideon and the Gideon 

Leadership PAC (hereinafter, “Ms. Gideon,” “PAC,” and collectively, the “Respondents”) now 

pending before the Federal Election Commission (hereinafter, “FEC”).  This Memorandum does 

not offer an opinion on the merits of the Complaint or provide any analysis by the Commission 

staff.     

ALLEGED FEDERAL LAW VIOLATIONS 

The Complaint alleges the following three (3) violations.   

I. The Respondents violated the federal prohibition on giving in the name of another.   

Federal law prohibits a person from making “a contribution in the name of another person 

or [to] knowingly permit his name to be used to effect such a contribution.”  52 U.S.C. § 30122.  

A person who gives money, which was provided by another person (the original source), without 

disclosing the original source of the funds to the recipient is deemed to have made a contribution 

in the name of another.  11 C.F.R. § 110.4(b)(2)(i).  Additionally, it is unlawful to “knowingly 

help or assist another person in making” such a contribution.  Id. at § 110.4(b)(1)(iii).   

Here, the allegations are that on or about 9/30/2015, 6/13/2016, 7/11/2016, and 

10/03/2016, Ms. Gideon made contributions to Emily Cain for Congress and to the federal 

account of the Maine Democratic Party, totaling $2,750.1  Additionally, on or about 10/28/2015, 

6/1/2016,2 7/25/2016, and 10/12/2016, the PAC reimbursed Ms. Gideon a total of $2,750 for 

making the contributions to Cain for Congress and the federal account of the Maine Democratic 

1 Cain for Congress received $1,250, and the Maine Democratic Party received $1,500.   
2 The PAC’s State filing indicates the reimbursement was made on 6/1/2016, but the Cain for Congress filing 
indicates the contribution was received on 6/13/2016.   
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Party.  Accordingly, Mr. Youngblood alleges a cause of action against the Respondents because 

Ms. Gideon contributed to federal committees, was reimbursed by the PAC, and failed to 

disclose the original source of the funds in violation of 52 U.S.C. § 30122 and associated 

regulations.    

II. The Respondents violated the federal requirement to register as a political committee.

Federal law defines a “political committee” as any committee, club, association, or other group 

of persons that receives contributions or makes expenditures aggregating more than $1,000 in a 

calendar year related to a federal campaign.  11 C.F.R. § 100.5.  A political committee must 

register with the FEC within ten (10) business days after exceeding the $1,000 threshold.  11 

C.F.R. § 102.1.   

Here, the allegations are that the PAC was required to register with the FEC and failed to 

do so.  In addition to the $2,750 in contributions discussed in part I, the PAC made direct 

contributions to federal candidates, Pingree for Congress and Cain for Congress, totaling $1,000 

on 3/14/2016 and 8/21/2016.  Since the $2,750 in contributions made by Ms. Gideon were made 

by the PAC, Mr. Youngblood asserts the PAC would have been required to register with the 

FEC.  Accordingly, Mr. Youngblood alleges a cause of action against the Respondents because 

his position is that the $2,750, paid by Ms. Gideon and reimbursed to her by the PAC, should be 

included in the federal contributions made directly by the PAC, and that the PAC would then 

have had to register with the FEC, which it failed to do in violation of 11 C.F.R. § 102.1.     

III. The Respondents failed to segregate impermissible funds from their contributions.

Federal law requires that a political committee that finances political activity in

connection with both federal and non-federal elections shall establish a separate fund as a 

depository for contributions for the federal elections if the committee accepts funds that are 

prohibited under federal law.3  11 C.F.R. § 102.5(1)(a)(i).  Prohibited contributions include any 

contributions from corporations.  52 U.S.C. § 30118.   

Here, Mr. Youngblood alleges that the PAC raised $57,500 from corporate contributions 

and an additional $17,000 in contributions from other state political action committees during 

3 Alternatively, a committee could form a separate committee solely for federal elections.   
11 C.F.R. § 102.5(1)(a)(ii).        
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2015 and 2016, both of which are in violation of § 30118.  The Complaint does not include 

specific itemizations supporting the $57,500 and $17,000 totals.  Rather, the Complaint 

references the Maine Campaign Finance website.  Accordingly, Mr. Youngblood alleges a cause 

of action against the Respondents because the campaign failed to segregate federal campaign 

funds and may have contributed impermissible funds to influence a federal election in violation 

of 11 C.F.R. § 102.5(1)(a).   

CONCLUSION 

This Memorandum summarizes the allegations in Mr. Youngblood’s complaint that is 

now pending before the FEC.  If the Commission would like any additional information or 

analysis from the Commission staff, please let us know.    
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NATIONAL EXAMPLES OF GIVING IN THE NAME OF ANOTHER 

1. In In the Matter of American Conservative Union, et al., F.E.C. MUR 6920 (2017), the Now or 

Never PAC received $1.7 million in contributions from the American Conservative Union

(“ACU”).  After investigation, the FEC found that another organization, Government Integrity, 

LLC (“GI”), donated $1.8 million to ACU the same day that ACU made the $1.7 million 

contribution to the Now or Never PAC.  Now or Never PAC reported ACU as the Contributor, 

not GI.  The FEC and the respondents entered a conciliation agreement which required the 

payment of a $350,000 penalty.

2. In United States v. Liberty, No. 2:16-CR-144-DBH (D. Me. Aug. 28, 2017), the defendant, Mr. 

Michael Liberty, directed and reimbursed nine (9) family members and employees to make a 

total of $22,500 in contributions to a federal campaign.  Mr. Liberty was sentenced to four (4) 

months in jail and fined $100,000, after pleading guilty.

3. In United States v. Tong, No. 4:17-cr-00474-JST (D. N. Ca. Oct. 10, 2019), the defendant, Mr. 

James Tong, used two straw donor organizations to funnel contributions through a network of 

individuals who would then make contributions to federal campaigns under their own names.  A 

total of $38,000 was contributed across two elections in this manner.  Mr. Tong was found 

guilty by a federal court jury in Oakland, California in October 2019, he will be sentenced on 

December 13, 2019 and faces up to four (4) years in prison and $38,000 in fines.

4. In State v. Newton, 330 Conn. 344 (2018), the defendant, Mr. Newton, ran for election under 

Connecticut’s clean election program.  Due to an accounting error, Mr. Newton believed he had 

raised the required $15,000 to qualify for clean election funds, but after review, the Ethics 

Commission informed his treasurer that he was $490 short of the $15,000 requirement.  That 

same day, the campaign’s treasurer found $500 sitting on her desk with five (5) required 

certification cards. The jury found that the five (5) individuals who had signed the certification 

cards did so after members of the campaign instructed them to sign the cards and told them that 

they did not have to make a contribution. The $500 came from Mr. Newton’s personal funds. Mr. 

Newton was sentenced to six (6) months imprisonment pending appeal. On appeal the 

Connecticut Supreme Court reversed and remanded for a new trial due to an improper jury 

instruction.
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LEGISLATIVE CODE OF ETHICS 

Legislative service is one of democracy's worthiest pursuits. A Maine Legislator is charged with 

civility and responsible conduct inside and outside of the State House commensurate with the 

trust placed in that Legislator by the electorate. 

In a free government, a Legislator is entrusted with the security, safety, health, prosperity, 

respect and general well-being of those the Legislator serves and with whom the Legislator 

serves. 

To work well, government requires a bond of trust and respect between citizens and their 

Legislators. With such a trust, high moral and ethical standards producing the public's 

confidence, with the reduction to a minimum of any conflict between private interests and 

official duties, should be observed. 

No Maine Legislators will accept any employment that will impair their independence and 

integrity of judgment nor will they exercise their position of trust to secure unwarranted 

privileges for themselves or for others. The Maine Legislator will be ever mindful of the ordinary 

citizen who might otherwise be unrepresented and will endeavor conscientiously to pursue the 

highest standards of legislative conduct inside and outside of the State House. 

Adopted by the 100th Legislature 

Amended by the 127th Legislature 
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